4

j

Court of Appeals, Division One Case No. 748408

Court of Appeals, Division One Case NO. 740400 FILED OCT 06 2016 WASHINGTON STATE IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON STATE

BRITT EASTERLY, ELZY EDWARDS and CLIFFORD EVELYN,

Respondents,

v.

CLARK COUNTY,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mitchell J. Cogen, WSBA No. 46364 Bullard Law 200 SW Market Street, Suite 1900 Portland, OR 97201 503-248-1134/Telephone 503-224-8851/Facsimile Attorneys for Appellant

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Petitioner Clark County ("Clark County" or "the County") asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Clark County seeks review of the unpublished decision filed on June 13, 2016 by Division One of the Court of Appeals reversing the Superior Court's summary judgment dismissal of Respondent Elzy Edwards' ("Edwards") case. The decision, 194 Wn. App. 1029 (2016), can be found in the Appendix ("App.") at pages 1 through 14. Petitioner timely filed a motion for reconsideration. A copy of the order denying Petitioner's motion for reconsideration can be found in the Appendix at page 15.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding that Edwards satisfied the "qualified for the position" element of his prima facie case solely by earning passing scores on initial pre-hire testing where the public policy established by RCW 43.101.021 requires law enforcement personnel to be truthful and honest and Edwards had been dishonest during the application process. 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding that by following the recommendations of the third-party investigator hired by Clark County to investigate Edwards' complaint about not being hired, evidence of pretext was established sufficient to defeat Clark County's legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for not hiring Edwards.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

٩,

A. Factual Background

Edwards, an African-American, applied for a custody officer position at the Clark County Sheriff's Office ("CCSO") on November 1, 2007. CP 1565. Following successful completion of the initial oral and written testing steps, Edwards submitted a Personal History Statement ("PHS") as part of his background investigation and a background investigator was assigned. CP 372-89. Both the application and the PHS make clear that willful omissions are cause for disqualification from the hiring process of termination of employment if hired. *Id*.

As part of the application, every CCSO applicant must attest and Edwards attested:

I hereby certify, under the penalty of perjury in the State of Washington, that this application *contains no willful misrepresentation* and that *the information given is true and complete* to the best of my knowledge and belief. I authorize the investigation of any or all statements contained in this application. I also authorize any person, school, current employer, past employers and organizations to provide relevant information and opinions that may be useful in making a hiring decision. I am aware that *should* an investigation at any time disclose any such misrepresentation or falsification, my application may be rejected, my name may be removed from consideration or I may be discharged from my employment. CP 1565 (emphasis added).

Further, CCSO's PHS requires all applicants to attest and Edwards

attested:

I hereby certify there are *no willful misrepresentations*, *omissions or fabrications* in the foregoing statements and answers to questions. I am fully aware that *any such misrepresentations*, *omissions or falsifications will be grounds for immediate rejection of application and/or termination of employment*. CP 385 (emphasis added).

Moreover, Civil Service rules provide that the application

of any applicant who "[h]as made any material false statement or has attempted any deception or fraud in connection with any civil service examination" will be rejected. CP 1166. Complete truthfulness in the background investigation process is imperative because considerable public trust is placed in law enforcement officers. RCW 43.101.021 provides:

> It is the policy of the state of Washington that all commissioned, appointed and elected law enforcement personnel comply with their oath of office and agency policies regarding the duty to be truthful and honest in the conduct of their official business.

Accordingly, CCSO requires complete honesty in the application process as a condition of hire. CP 37-38, 2218.

The investigator assigned to conduct Edwards' background investigation discovered that Edwards had failed to disclose two prior arrests and three prior convictions. CP 229-30, 362, 364. CCSO considers omissions of arrests and/or convictions to be willful misrepresentations since these are things not likely to be forgotten, particularly by someone who wants to work in law enforcement. CP 38, 225-26, 229-230. Edwards was aware that deliberate omissions from his PHS could result in disqualification from the application process. CP 276.

During his background interview, Edwards was given the opportunity to explain his omission of the arrests and convictions. Edwards conceded that the omitted arrests and convictions were "one of the most demoralizing points in [his] life" and expressed concern that these omissions would disqualify him. CP 229, 231, 286, 395-96, 397-98. Following the interview, Edwards was disqualified from the application process and removed from the eligibility list. CP 232, 248, 362-370.

Edwards appealed his disqualification and removal. CP 69-70. As part of his appeal, Edwards misrepresented to the Civil Service Commission ("CSC") that he had disclosed in his PHS the information about his arrests and convictions that he had, in fact, failed to disclose. CP 95-96, 291-92. The CSC decided to reinstate Edwards to the hiring process "with reservations" based upon the identified background concerns. CP 70, 421. Subsequently, Edwards was invited to participate in a June 24, 2008 panel interview. CP 939. All panel members rated Edwards poorly for numerous reasons, including his background issues, and Edwards was not selected. CP 215, 218.

Edwards appealed again and raised, for the first time, allegations that the decision not to hire him was racially motivated. In response, the County hired an independent, third-party investigator to assess both Edwards' allegations of race discrimination as well as the functioning of the civil service process. CP 1162. The investigator determined that there was no evidence that Edwards's race played any role in the hiring process. CP 447-448,1885. However, the investigator also determined that administrative errors had occurred during the civil service process. Because of these process errors, the investigator recommended that Edwards be given the opportunity to be reinstated to the hiring process at the background investigation step with a different background investigator. CP 1188. Pursuant to the investigator's findings and recommendations, the County offered Edwards reinstatement to the hiring process at the background investigation step and also at the panel interview step which he had previously attained. Edwards rejected both

-5-

offers by the County and instead chose to file suit. CP 456.

B. Procedural History

On December 11, 2009, Edwards, Britt Easterly, and Clifford Evelyn sued Clark County in Clark County Superior Court. CP 1-20. All three plaintiffs alleged that they had been discriminated against on the basis of race by CCSO in violation of the WLAD. *Id.* Edwards was a failed applicant for a custody officer position and his claim sounds in failure to hire. CP 6-12.

On May 30, 2014, Clark County moved for summary judgment against all claims of all plaintiffs. CP 186-88. On December 12, 2014, the trial court granted Clark County's motion for summary judgment with respect to Edwards and Evelyn and dismissed their claims. CP 2281-86. Edwards and Evelyn appealed their dismissals to Division Two of the Court of Appeals. CP 2377. On February 25, 2016, their appeals were transferred to Division One of the Court of Appeals.

Division One of the Court of Appeals reversed in part and affirmed in part the trial court's summary judgment dismissals. App. ¶¶1-2. On July 1, 2016, Clark County filed a motion for reconsideration which was denied on August 9, 2016. App. 15.

111

111

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court Should Grant Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2) and(4) to Correct the Court of Appeals' Misinterpretation of Required Qualifications for Employment in Law Enforcement.

1. Honesty is a minimum qualification for employment in law enforcement.

This Court has held that to establish a prima facie case of race discrimination under the WLAD, a plaintiff must show that: (1) he is a member of a racial minority; (2) he applied for and was qualified for an available job; (3) he was not offered the position; and (4) after his rejection, the position remained open and the employer continued to seek applicants from other persons with the plaintiff's qualifications. Hill v. BCTI Income Fund, 144 Wn. 2d 172, 181, 23 P. 3d 440 (2001). Clark County argued at summary judgment that Edwards failed to establish a prima facie case of race discrimination because he failed to satisfy the second element of his prima facie case, *i.e.* he was not qualified for the position of custody officer at CCSO. CP 134. Citing RCW 43.101.021 and CCSO's requirement for complete honesty during the application process, the County argued that Edwards was not qualified for a custody officer position at CCSO because inter alia he was dishonest in the application process and complete honesty and truthfulness is a minimum qualification for a law enforcement position. CP 1182.

The trial court dismissed Edwards' WLAD failure to hire

claim. CP 2281-86. On appeal, the Court of Appeals held that:

Edwards asserted to the trial court (and continues to assert on appeal) that he possessed the minimum qualifications for the custody officer position. To support his assertion, Edwards pointed the trial court to the passing scores that he earned on the examinations during the first two stages of the application process. With this evidentiary showing, Edwards both satisfied the requirements of the second element and established a prima facie case of discrimination in the County's hiring practices. App. 5, ¶38.

In so holding, Division One of the Court of Appeals has: (1) abrogated the express public policy requiring truthfulness and honesty in law enforcement officers embodied in RCW 43.101.021; (2) ignored this Court's precedent regarding the uniqueness of law enforcement employment and the necessity for the public good to have heightened standards of honesty and integrity for law enforcement; and (3) unilaterally modified CCSO's job requirements for the custody officer position in conflict with Division Two of the Court of Appeals.

a. Abrogation of Public Policy

RCW 43.101.021 provides that "[i]t is the policy of the state of Washington that all commissioned, appointed, and elected law enforcement personnel comply with their oath of office and agency policies regarding the duty to be truthful and honest in the conduct of their official business." Thus, the public policy requiring truthfulness and honesty by all law enforcement personnel is express and unambiguous. By mandating that an applicant for a law enforcement position can establish qualification for that position merely by passing initial oral and written exams administered by the Civil Service Commission, Division One of the Court of Appeals has nullified this express public policy.

Division One of the Court of Appeals' abrogation of the express public policy set forth in RCW 43.101.021 creates an issue of substantial public concern warranting this Court's review.

b. Conflict with this Court's decision.

In finding Edwards qualified for the custody officer position by merely passing the initial oral and written testing administered by the CSC, Division One has effectively and impermissibly substituted its own judgment in hiring over that of CCSO and determined that honesty is not a valid qualification for a position in law enforcement. However, this Court and numerous other courts have held precisely the opposite.

This Court has recognized and reinforced the unique nature of law enforcement employment and the necessary application of higher standards of honesty and integrity to both law enforcement applicants and employees. In fact, honesty is such a core and essential qualification standard in law enforcement that this Court has held that honesty and truthfulness are essential qualifications not only for law enforcement officers, but for certain law enforcement support staff as well.

In O'Hartigan v. Dep't of Pers., 118 Wn. 2d 111, 122–23, 821 P.2d 44, 50–51 (1991), this Court analyzed the constitutionality of RCW 49.44.120 and its exemption permitting the use of polygraph testing in law enforcement hiring. Plaintiff, an applicant for a word processing position at the Washington State Patrol, refused to undergo a polygraph examination as part of her application process. *Id.* at 115-16. In rejecting plaintiff's constitutional challenge brought forth on privacy grounds, this Court held:

> O'Hartigan's argument belies the importance of her role. The record discloses that, if hired, she would have been privy to highly confidential and extremely sensitive matters, including investigative reports, ongoing narcotics investigations, employee disciplinary records, sergeant and lieutenant examinations, internal affairs investigation reports, and professional standards reports. Such information is safeguarded because if it were compromised, this could endanger law enforcement officers or the public safety.

> Under RCW 49.44.120, polygraph testing is generally prohibited as a method of employee screening. However, the statute also specifically provides that this prohibition does not apply to persons making initial employment applications with a law enforcement agency. RCW 49.44.120. The Legislature, in other words, has accepted polygraph testing as an employee screening method to be used by law enforcement agencies. The other methods of employee screening protection named by O'Hartigan, such as probationary periods and background checks,

are, as the State argues, vulnerable to dishonest responses by either an applicant or the applicant's background references and were not deemed adequate by the Legislature.

We hold polygraph testing is constitutionally acceptable under an analysis which would require employment screening means which are carefully tailored to achieve the State's interest. *Thus, under Washington statute regulating or limiting the use of polygraph testing in the workplace, it is constitutionally acceptable that initial applicants to law enforcement agencies are exempted. See* RCW 49.44.120. *Id.* at 118-119.(emphasis added).

In finding the statute constitutional on equal protection grounds, this Court

opined:

We therefore proceed to the second question, whether there is a reasonable basis for treating members of the class differently from those outside the class. In this regard, we have observed that there is a valid reason for treating law enforcement job applicants differently due to the sensitive information accessible to employees (even nonofficers), and the unique potential dangers inherent to compromised intelligence during ongoing criminal investigations and other law enforcement activities. Law enforcement agencies are in an adversarial relationship with the criminal element of society. We have already concluded the State Patrol has a legitimate interest in ensuring a high level of trustworthiness and personal integrity among its employees. Further, we reject the argument that the state Legislature had no rational basis for treating law enforcement agencies more strictly than other state agencies or private employers. Law enforcement personnel perform work of a distinct nature. This court has previously observed that the work of law enforcement is of a highly sensitive nature; that agencies must be free from corruption and employ persons of integrity if they

are to function effectively. (citation omitted). *Id.* at 122. (emphasis added).

Similarly, other courts have also supported the wellestablished maxim that honesty is a minimum qualification for law enforcement employment. In *Guerrero v. California Dep't of Corr. & Rehab*₂, 119 F. Supp. 3d 1065 (N.D. Cal. 2015), the federal district court analyzed whether a question in a background investigation of an applicant for a corrections officer position regarding the applicant's prior use of different Social Security numbers position had a disparate impact on Latinos. *Id.* at 1077. The court found:

> In hiring corrections officers, California law requires CDCR to conduct a thorough background investigation to determine that candidates have good moral character. Corrections officers are authorized to carry firearms. And, they are subject to pressure and manipulation from inmates. In determining moral character, CDCR evaluates applicants' integrity, honesty, and good judgment, among other qualifications. Integrity, honesty, and good judgment remain important and valid qualifications for corrections officers. Id. at 1070-71 (emphasis added).

See also Hartman v. City of Petaluma, 841 F. Supp. 946, 949–50 (N.D. Cal. 1994)(applicant for police officer position not otherwise qualified for purposes of ADA claim where applicant was dishonest about drug use; "legitimate concern over this specific deception gave the Department sufficient grounds to reject plaintiff's application."); *Winchester v. City of Hopkinsville*, 93 F. Supp. 3d 752, 768 (W.D. Ky. 2015)(plaintiff failed to

establish prima facie requirement that he was qualified to be police crime scene technician due to dishonesty in application); *Bostic v. Wall*, 588 F.Supp. 994, 999 (W.D. N.C. 1984), aff'd 762 F.2d 997 (4th Cir. 1985)(deputy sheriff's misrepresentations were legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for lack of retention integrity, honesty, and a concerted effort in one's duties are legitimate qualifications to demand of any employee in any position).

Division One of the Court of Appeals' opinion holding that truthfulness and honesty is not a valid and/or required minimum qualification to become a member of law enforcement is in conflict with this Court's opinion in *O'Hartigan* and warrants this Court's review.

c. Conflict with opinion of Division Two of the Court of Appeals

In its decision in this case, Division One of the Court of Appeals has determined that only mere passage of the CSC's initial oral and written testing is required to establish qualification for a law enforcement position at CCSO, eliminating CCSO's requirement that all applicants must be truthful and honest in the application process. However, in a disability discrimination case involving a corrections officer at the Washington Department of Corrections, Division Two of the Court of Appeals held that it was not a proper function for the court to unilaterally alter the Department of Corrections' job requirements for

correctional officers. Dedman v. Washington Pers. Appeals Bd., 98 Wash.

App. 471, 480, 989 P.2d 1214, 1219 (1999).

Division One of the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case

is in conflict with Division Two of the Court of Appeals' opinion in

Dedman and warrants this Court's review.

- B. This Court Should Grant Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to Correct the Court of Appeals' Diminution of the State's Dominant Public Policy Against Discrimination in Employment.
 - 1. The Washington Law Against Discrimination ("WLAD") contains a public policy mandate to both eradicate and deter discrimination in the workplace.

The WLAD, RCW 49.60 *et seq*, embodies the finding of the legislature that discrimination in employment is a matter of state concern that threatens not only the rights and proper privileges of the inhabitants of the state but also menaces the institutions and foundation of a free democratic state. Accordingly, the WLAD makes it unlawful for an employer to refuse to hire an applicant or discharge or discriminate against an employee with respect to terms or conditions of employment because of age, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, race, creed, color, national origin, honorably discharged veteran or military status, or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability or the use of a trained dog guide or service animal by a person with a disability, RCW 49.60.180, and declares the right to be free of discrimination as a civil right. RCW 49.60.030. Further, the WLAD established the Washington State Human Rights Commission to "receive, impartially investigate, and pass upon complaints alleging unfair practices" and issue results of such investigations that "will tend to promote good will and minimize or eliminate discrimination..." RCW 49.60.120(4)(5).

It is well-settled that the WLAD sets forth an explicit, welldefined, and dominant public policy. *Int'l Union of Operating Engineers, Local 286 v. Port of Seattle*, 176 Wn. 2d 712, 721–22, 295 P.3d 736, 740– 41 (2013). This Court has held that the WLAD contains a "clear mandate to eliminate all forms of discrimination" and that the "purpose of the law is 'to deter and to eradicate discrimination in Washington.' " Brown v. *Scott Paper Worldwide Co.*, 143 Wn.2d 349, 359–60, 20 P.3d 921 (2001) (quoting *Marquis v. City of Spokane*, 130 Wn.2d 97, 109, 922 P.2d 43 (1996)). Moreover, this Court has repeatedly held that the WLAD expresses a "public policy of the 'highest priority'." *Antonius v. King County*, 153 Wn.2d 256, 267–68, 103 P.3d 729 (2004) (quoting *Xieng v. Peoples Nat'l Bank of Wash.*, 120 Wn.2d 512, 521, 844 P.2d 389 (1993); accord *Marquis*, 130 Wn.2d at 109, 922 P.2d 43.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the WLAD's clear public policy and threatens the mandate of the WLAD.

In response to Edwards' complaint about not being hired,

the County promptly hired an independent, third-party investigator. In

doing so, the County acted in conformance with and in support of the

WLAD's mandate to deter and eradicate discrimination. Brown, supra,

143 Wn. 2d at 359-60. This Court has held that:

•

"[a]ntidiscrimination laws create an *affirmative duty for* employers to prevent racial harassment in the workplace by sufficiently disciplining those that engage in harassing behavior. While the laws do not, and cannot, set standards as to the specific amount of discipline that is required for specific acts or patterns of harassment, the affirmative duty to sufficiently discipline harassers is well defined. Therefore, the laws against workplace discrimination and harassment express an explicit, well-defined, and dominant public policy aimed at both ending current discrimination and preventing future discrimination." Int'l Union of Operating Engineers, Local 286, supra, 176 Wn. 2d at 721-22 (emphasis added). see also Perry v. Costco Wholesale, Inc., 123 Wn. App. 783, 793-94, 98 P.3d 1264 (2004); Ellison v. Brady, 924 F.2d 872, 882 (9th Cir.1991).

It is axiomatic that in order to be able to discipline those

engaging in conduct in violation of the WLAD, it must first be determined who the alleged wrongdoer is as well as the factual detail underlying the complaint. In accord with its legislative mandate, the Washington State Human Rights Commission first investigates allegations of WLAD violations in furtherance of its mission to eradicate discrimination. RCW 49.60.120(4)(5) (http://www.hum.wa.gov/employment). Similarly, the federal EEOC investigates complaints made alleging Title VII violations (https://www.eeoc.gov/employees/process). Moreover, the EEOC's enforcement guidance to employers provides that an employer should set up a mechanism for a prompt, thorough, and impartial investigation into alleged harassment (https://www.eeoc.gov/policy/docs/harassment).

Under this legislative and regulatory framework, prudent employers in Washington promptly and thoroughly investigate discrimination complaints since doing so reinforces the WLAD's purpose and mandate. Here, the County promptly hired a third-party investigator to investigate Edwards's complaint. The investigator found no evidence of racial bias or animus in the hiring process. However, some administrative errors were identified and the investigator recommended giving Edwards another chance in the hiring process in light of these procedural errors. CP 1188. Accordingly, Clark County followed the investigator's recommendation. CP 456. In finding that evidence of pretext was created because Clark County followed the recommendation of the investigator, the Court of Appeals acted in derogation of the public policy inherent in the WLAD and created a disincentive for employers to investigate complaints of discrimination. The Court of Appeals held that because the County followed the investigator's recommendation, evidence of pretext exists such that a reasonable juror could find that the County "would not make such an offer to an applicant whom the employer truly believed lacked the minimum qualifications for the position." App. 6, ¶42. However, such reasoning places the County in an impossible conundrum—a classic "catch-22." Had the County chosen not to investigate Edwards's complaint at all or had it ignored the investigator's recommendation, such conduct would be in contravention of the clear public policy designed to eliminate current and future discrimination. Yet by acting pursuant to the mandate of the WLAD, the Court of Appeals incomprehensibly found that the County's conduct created evidence that Edwards' non-hire was a pretext for discrimination.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals' decision held the County to an impossible standard wherein there is apparently nothing the County could have done in response to Edwards' complaint that would be satisfactory. This is so because had the County not investigated, Edwards likely would have alleged that the County improperly ignored his complaint and that doing so was evidence of race discrimination. Had the County investigated but ignored the investigator's recommendation that Edwards be offered reinstatement to the hiring process—the action apparently supported by the Court of Appeals—Edwards likely would have alleged that the County ignored its own investigator and that doing so was evidence of race discrimination.

Here, by finding that a jury question was created when the County followed the investigator's recommendation, the Court of Appeals has constructed a legal framework that improperly dissuades employers from investigating complaints of discrimination in stark contrast to the express public policy of the State. When a complaint of discrimination is made, employers rightfully are concerned that legal action against the employer may arise therefrom. If an employer's decision to investigate that complaint brings with it the potential that the investigation itself may cause greater potential legal jeopardy for the employer, a strong disincentive to investigate exists. Moreover, if the decision to investigate will necessarily place the employer in an untenable "catch-22" about remedial action in response to the complaint regardless of the results and/or recommendations from the investigation, an even stronger disincentive to investigate exists.

In this case, the Division One of the Court of Appeals has created a legal disincentive for employers to investigate complaints of discrimination. This Court should accept review to restore the proper purpose and policy behind the WLAD to require employers to investigate and prompt remedy discrimination or harassment in the workplace.

VI. CONCLUSION

As set forth herein, this Court should accept review of the decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals in this case because that decision is in conflict with the public policies embodied in RCW 43.101.021 and the WLAD and issues of substantial public interest exist. Furthermore, Division One of the Court of Appeals' decision here is in conflict with both this Court's decision as well as a decision by Division Two of the Court of Appeals. Petitioner Clark County respectfully requests that this Court grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2) and (4).