RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

No. 93658-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRITT EASTERLY, ELZY EDWARDS and CLIFFORD EVELYN,

Respondents,

v.

CLARK COUNTY,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas S. Boothe, WSBA #21759 7635 SW Westmoor Way Portland, OR 97225-2138 (503) 292-5800 Sidney Tribe, WSBA #33160 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Ave. SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Respondents Britt Easterly, Elzy Edwards, and Clifford Evelyn

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

C. ARGUMENT

(1) <u>The Court of Appeals' Opinion Does Not Affect the Public's</u> <u>Ability to Have Honest Law Enforcement Officers,</u> <u>However, It Does Protect the Public Interest in Eradicating</u> <u>Race Discrimination</u>

The Court of Appeals concluded that a jury should decide whether the County rejected Edwards' candidacy because of his race. Op. at *8.

The County argues that this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals has somehow altered the public policy in favor of law enforcement officers being honest in the execution of their public duties. Petition at 8-9. The County suggests that the Court of Appeals' opinion is an "abrogation" of this policy, citing RCW 43.101.021.

The County's position strains credulity. RCW 43.101.021 establishes a public policy of honesty in the execution of public duties. It

says nothing about whether alleged misstatements on an application form are *de facto* disqualifiers from any law enforcement position.

The Court of Appeals' opinion does not hold that law enforcement officers need no longer be honest in fulfilling their public duties. It does not "abrogate" RCW 43.101.021; that statute is unrelated to this case. Edwards was never hired, so the County never gave him the chance to demonstrate his honesty in public duty.¹

The only holding of the Court of Appeals here is that there is genuine issue of material fact as to whether the County's claim that Edwards was "unqualified" was pretext for race discrimination. *That* is the public policy at stake here. The County's petition should be denied.

(2) <u>This Case Does Not Involve Any Challenge to Polygraph</u> <u>Testing in Law Enforcement Hiring, Nor Does It "Alter"</u> <u>Any Job Requirements by Judicial Fiat</u>

The County next suggests that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *O'Hartigan v. Dep't of Pers.*, 118 Wn.2d 111, 821 P.2d 44 (1991). Petition at 8-13. The County quotes extensively from *O'Hartigan*, particularly with respect to the sensitivity and gravity of law enforcement work. The County suggests that the Court of

¹ However, the State of Washington viewed Edwards as qualified and has given him the opportunity to demonstrate his integrity in the execution of his public duties. CP 1673.

Appeals' decision holds that "truthfulness and honesty is not a valid and/or minimum qualification to become a member of law enforcement." *Id.* at 13. The County also argues that the Court of Appeals has "unilaterally alter[ed]" the job requirements for corrections officers, citing *Dedman v. Washington Pers. Appeals Bd.*, 98 Wn. App. 471, 989 P.2d 1214 (1999). *Id.* at 13-14.

This Court will search the Court of Appeals' opinion in vain for any "holding" requiring a law enforcement agency to disregard questions of honesty in choosing officer candidates, or altering job requirements. No such holding exists. Law enforcement agencies may still use perceived honesty as a basis for rejecting an applicant. In fact, the Court of Appeals cited the County's claim of dishonesty as a "legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for declining to hire Edwards." Op. at *7.

The Court of Appeals simply held that – based on the factual record before it – the County's claim that Edwards' alleged "dishonesty" was disqualifying appears to be pretextual. *Id.* It remanded for trial on that issue.

The problem for the County here is that it did *not* appear to treat "honesty" as a minimum qualification. It did *not* categorically reject Edwards for the claimed misstatements in his application. Instead, the County advanced him all the way through the hiring process even after the claimed "disqualifying" behavior occurred. It also offered to reinstate him to the application process a year later, despite still protesting to this day that he was not even minimally qualified.

Had the County categorically rejected Edwards based on the alleged misstatements in his application form, the Court of Appeals might have seen this case differently. It is up to the jury to decide whether the County was really concerned with Edwards' honesty, rather than with the color of his skin.

Nothing in the opinion alters the County's ability to reject candidates for dishonesty, or alters the qualification standards for hiring. Agencies simply may not use alleged "dishonesty" as a pretext for race discrimination. The County's petition should be denied.

(3) <u>Requiring an Employer to Face a Jury on Race</u> <u>Discrimination Claims Because There Are Disputed Issues</u> <u>of Fact Does Not Injure the Public Policy Underpinning the</u> <u>WLAD</u>

Finally, the County complains bitterly about the unfairness of facing trial on whether it discriminated against Edwards because of his race. Petition at 16-19. It argues the Court of Appeals' decision injures the County, suggesting it is being punished for investigating discrimination. Petition at 14-19. The County argues that it investigated and there was "no evidence of racial bias or animus," that offering to reinstate Edwards to the hiring process due to "administrative errors" cannot be viewed as evidence that the County did not really believe he was unqualified. *Id.* at 17.

As a threshold matter, the County's repeated attempts to recast the investigator's report as some sort of exoneration of the County's behavior are maddening. The report did *not* conclude that the County did not discriminate against Edwards. The County investigator said *it was difficult to decide if Nelson was motivated by race discrimination*. CP 1186. The investigator also said that, when comparing Edwards and a Caucasian applicant, the two were treated differently and the alleged "administrative errors" tended to favor the Caucasian, and disfavor Edwards. CP 1180-85.

The County's statement that the investigator found no "evidence of racial bias or animus" is carefully crafted to distract from the investigator's very serious findings. The County knows perfectly well that a lack of direct evidence of animus does not prove a lack of discriminatory intent. WILLIAM Y. CHIN, *The Age of Covert Racism in the Era of the Roberts Court During the Waning of Affirmative Action*, 16 Rutgers Race & L. Rev. 1, 15-16 (2015). Discrimination can be subtle, coded, and difficult to uncover. Of course, it is easier to recognize obvious, blatant racial bias than less obvious, subtle bias. *Id.; see also, Johnson v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 80 Wn. App. 212, 227, 907 P.2d 1223 (1996) (purpose of disparate treatment claims

is to allow inference of discriminatory animus because direct evidence rarely available).

The reality of covert bias is precisely why the *McDonnell-Douglass* burden shifting test was adopted by our Supreme Court: to allow a plaintiff to present an indirect case of discrimination to a jury in the *absence* of direct proof of racial animus. *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 180, 23 P.3d 440 (2001), *as amended on denial of reconsideration* (July 17, 2001), *overruled on other grounds by McClarty v. Totem Elec.*, 157 Wn.2d 214, 226, 137 P.3d 844 (2006). As some academics studying the issue have noted: "One study revealed that judges evaluating workplace racial harassment claims tended to deem relevant only overtly racist behavior such as uttering racial slurs, but tend to disregard covert racist behavior such as exclusion from professional or work-related activities, social isolation, or other subtle stratagems." CHIN, 16 Rutgers Race & L. Rev. at 15.

The County's argument that the Court of Appeals' opinion discourages investigation of discrimination is unavailing. The "catch-22" of which the County complains is purely of its own making. By claiming in court that Edwards lacked even minimal qualifications for the position, despite having advanced him all the way through an elaborate civil service process and later offering to reinstate him to it, the County made its bed and must lie in it. The jury may believe the County regarding its alleged immutable standards of total honesty, or it may believe that the County invented this "absolute disqualification" standard after the fact to cover up race discrimination. Pointing out that the County's hypocrisy and doublespeak raises an inference of pretext sufficient to survive summary judgment does not threaten Washington's policy against discrimination.

The very fact that Edwards and the County have two competing, plausible explanations of the County's actions, backed by specific evidence, means a trial should be held. The County's petition should be denied, so the trial may commence.

D. CONCLUSION

The County has not demonstrated any actual issues arising from the Court of Appeals' opinion. Review should be denied.